5

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

JAN 24 2017

APPEAL FROM THE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS SC Court of Appeals

Roger L. Couch, Circuit Court Judge

Irvin G. Condon, Probate Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2016-001141

Circuit Court Case No. 2014-CP-10-4336

Probate Case No. 2013-GC-10-1029

Peter J. Wellin, Cynthia W. Plum and Marjorie W. King,

Appellants.

v.

Keith S. Wellin,

Respondent,

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

Robert H. Brunson, SC Bar No. 11987
Merritt G. Abney, SC Bar No. 71893
Patrick C. Wooten, SC Bar No. 77985
NELSON MULLINS RILEY & SCARBOROUGH LLP
151 Meeting Street / Sixth Floor
Post Office Box 1806 (29402-1806)
Charleston, SC 29401-2239

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the lower courts err in holding the probate court had subject matter jurisdiction to order the Wellin Family 2009 Irrevocable Trust (the “Irrevocable Trust” or the “Trust”) or the Wellin Children to pay \$50 million to a special conservator, where the Probate Code and governing case law provide that subject matter jurisdiction over the dispute is lacking?
- II. Did the lower courts err in holding the probate court had personal jurisdiction over the Irrevocable Trust, where the Trust is not a party to the underlying action and has not submitted to the jurisdiction of the court?
- III. Did the lower courts err in finding the probate court’s order requiring the Irrevocable Trust to pay \$50 million to a special conservator did not violate principles of due process, where the probate court made its ruling in the absence of a summons and complaint, without affording the Trust an opportunity to conduct any discovery, and without an evidentiary hearing or trial?
- IV. Did the lower courts err in finding South Carolina Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(8) did not require dismissal of Edward Bennett’s request for relief, where the same parties are litigating the same claim in the United States District Court?
- V. Did the circuit court err in finding Keith Wellin’s death, and the appointment of his widow as Special Administrator of his estate, did not render moot the underlying Conservatorship Action and this appeal?
- VI. Did the lower courts err in finding the special conservator, Edward Bennett, had standing to pursue disputed claims against the Wellin Children on Keith Wellin’s behalf, where he lacked such authority under the South Carolina Probate Code and the order appointing him special conservator?

INTRODUCTION

This appeal arises from certain orders of the probate court in the underlying conservatorship proceeding (the “Conservatorship Action”), which required the Appellants Peter Wellin, Cynthia Wellin Plum, and Marjorie Wellin King (collectively, the “Wellin Children”), who are trustees of an irrevocable trust created by their late father, Keith S. Wellin (“Keith Wellin”), to pay \$50 million from the trust to Synovus Trust Company (“Synovus”). The court ordered the funds to be held by Synovus as a special conservator during the pendency of certain litigation in the United States District Court concerning that same \$50 million.

Although the factual and procedural history of this dispute is lengthy, the reasons why this Court should reverse the lower court orders are straightforward. The probate court ordered the Wellin Children to pay \$50 million to Synovus based on an oral request by opposing counsel at a hearing. The court issued its order without any claim (or counterclaim) being asserted against the Wellin Children and, thus, prior to the Wellin Children having an opportunity to file an answer, assert affirmative defenses, conduct discovery or a trial, or otherwise take advantage of their due process rights and the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure. As far as Appellants can tell, the probate court’s order is unprecedented in South Carolina jurisprudence, and it violates the South Carolina statutes that set clear limits on the scope of the probate court’s jurisdiction. For this and several other good reasons explained in detail herein, this Court should reverse the lower court orders.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On July 19, 2013, the Wellin Children, in their individual capacities, filed the Conservatorship Action in the probate court seeking appointment of a conservator for Keith Wellin, whom the Wellin Children allege was incapacitated and being unduly influenced by his

fourth wife, Wendy Wellin. (Petition, R. pp. 159-173.) At a preliminary hearing held on July 26, 2013, the parties agreed to the appointment of attorney Edward Bennett, Esq. (“Bennett”), as a temporary Special Conservator for Keith Wellin until the parties could attend mediation to attempt to resolve litigation that Keith Wellin had previously filed against the Wellin Children in federal district court. (7/26/2013 Hr’g Tr., R. pp. 1159-1161.) On August 15, 2013, the probate court issued a consent order appointing Bennett as Special Conservator with the limited power and duty “to ensure that transfers of assets are not made without fair and adequate consideration.” (8/15/2013 Order, R. pp. 1-3.) Meanwhile, litigation in the district court continued.

The district court litigation relates to certain sophisticated estate planning transactions executed by Keith Wellin, with assistance of counsel, beginning in 2003. (*Wellin I* Compl., R. pp. 174-205.) In 2003, Keith Wellin created Friendship Partners, LP (“Friendship Partners”), a family limited partnership, and transferred 896 shares of Berkshire Hathaway Class A stock (“BRKa Shares”) to the partnership in exchange for a 99% limited partnership interest. (*Wellin I* Compl., R. p. 177; Partnership Agreement, R. pp. 1680-1705.) In 2009, Keith Wellin created the Wellin Family 2009 Irrevocable Trust (the “Irrevocable Trust” or the “Trust”) and named the Wellin Children its trustees and beneficiaries. (Irrevocable Trust, R. pp. 441-502.) Shortly after the creation of the Trust, Keith Wellin sold his 99% limited partnership interest in Friendship Partners to the Trust in exchange for a promissory note with a face value of approximately \$50 million (the “Promissory Note”). (Purchase & Sale Agreement, R. pp. 1728-1751.) In the district court litigation, Keith Wellin sought, *inter alia*, to rescind these 2009 transactions—both the creation of the Irrevocable Trust and the sale of the partnership interest (jointly, the “2009

Transaction”)—on the alleged basis that the Wellin Children (and presumably his estate planning attorney) duped him into these transactions. (*Wellin I Compl.*, R. pp. 179-182, 204.)

On November 20, 2013, Bennett delivered to counsel for the Wellin Children a document executed the same day through which Keith Wellin purported to exercise a right under the Irrevocable Trust to substitute certain assets in exchange for Trust assets of equal value. (Bennett 11/20/2013 Letter to John Hagerty, R. pp. 882-904.) Specifically, he purported to forgive the Promissory Note by marking it “Paid in Full” in exchange for a 58% limited partnership interest in Friendship Partners (the “Swap Transaction”), which Bennett unilaterally determined to be an asset exchange of equal value. (R. pp. 891-904.) The Wellin Children, in their capacity as trustees of the Irrevocable Trust, rejected the Swap Transaction on numerous grounds, and the validity of the Swap Transaction is a central disputed issue in the district court litigation, which remains pending. (Hagerty 12/6/2013 Letter to Bennett, R. pp. 1752-1753.)

On or about December 1, 2013, Friendship Partners dissolved and liquidated its assets, which consisted of BRKa Shares valued at approximately \$157 million. (Dissolution & Plan of Liquidation, R. pp. 580-582; Hagerty 12/6/2013 Letter to Bennett p. 1752-1753.) In connection with the liquidation, Friendship Partners distributed the proceeds from the sale of the BRKa Shares to its limited partners in proportion to their respective financial interests in the partnership. (R. pp. 1752-1753.) In making the distributions, Friendship Partners did not recognize the purported Swap Transaction. (*Id.*) The Friendship Partners distribution to the Irrevocable Trust accordingly included the vast majority of the \$157 million in proceeds, including the approximately \$92 million in proceeds corresponding to the 58% limited partnership interest claimed by Keith Wellin as a result of the disputed the Swap Transaction.

On or about December 6, 2013, the Wellin Children, on behalf of the Irrevocable Trust, tendered a check for approximately \$50 million to Bennett as prepayment in full of the Promissory Note. (R. pp. 1752-1753.) Bennett rejected the payment, taking the position that the Promissory Note ceased to exist after it was marked “Paid in Full” in connection with the purported Swap Transaction on November 20. (Bennett 12/6/2013 Letter to Hagerty, R. 1754-1755.) Bennett also demanded the Trust immediately pay to Keith Wellin \$92 million, which he claimed represented the liquidation proceeds corresponding to Keith Wellin’s alleged 58% interest in Friendship Partners. (*Id.*) The Wellin Children, on behalf of the Trust, refused Bennett’s demand.

Keith Wellin subsequently asserted claims in the district court against the Wellin Children seeking to recover these proceeds from the Friendship Partners liquidation. (*Wellin III* Compl., R. pp. 277-280; *Wellin I* Am. Compl., R. pp. 325-329; *Wellin IV* Compl., R. pp. 596-599; *Wellin II* Ans. to Counterclaim, R. pp. 939-945.) Keith Wellin’s attorneys, and other parties acting on his behalf, made multiple requests to the district court for preliminary injunctions with respect to the assets of Friendship Partners, which the district court denied. (11/22/2013 Order, R. pp. 76-89; 1/7/2014 Order, R. pp. 90-100.)

One week after the district court denied a motion for a preliminary injunction over the proceeds of the Friendship Partners liquidation, on January 14, 2014, Bennett delivered an *ex parte* “Application” to the probate court in the instant Conservatorship Action, in which he purported to request “guidance” regarding his fiduciary duties as Special Conservator pursuant to S.C. Ann. § 62-5-416(b). (Application, R. pp. 1757-1760.) In the Application, Bennett stated his version of the disputed facts related to the purported Swap Transaction and the liquidation of Friendship Partners and alleged the Wellin Children had deprived Keith Wellin of \$92 million.

(*Id.*) He sought an order from the probate court requiring the Wellin Children to pay this amount to him as Special Conservator. (*Id.*)

After the probate court ordered Bennett to disclose his Application to counsel for the Wellin Children, on February 3, 2014, the Wellin Children moved to dismiss the Application on the grounds, *inter alia*, that the probate court lacked subject matter jurisdiction over the dispute related to the Swap Transaction and the Friendship Partners liquidation, the dispute over these matters was already pending in the district court, Bennett had no standing to pursue claims on Keith Wellin's behalf, and ordering the Wellin Children to pay \$92 million from the Trust without any pleadings, discovery, or a trial would violate the South Carolina Probate Code and fundamental principles of due process.¹ (R. pp. 787-801.) On February 5, 2014, Bennett responded to Petitioners' motion to dismiss with a letter, in which he modified his earlier request by stating that, if the probate court agreed Bennett had a duty to pursue the liquidation proceeds on Keith Wellin's behalf, Bennett would "bring a Petition to Return Assets and serve said petition upon all parties along with the required summons." (R. p. 965.) That is, Bennett clarified that he was merely asking the probate court to expand his power as Special Conservator to grant him standing to file a summons and complaint on Keith Wellin's behalf in connection with the Swap Transaction and the Friendship Partners liquidation. (*Id.*)

At a hearing before the probate court on February 6, 2014, Bennett's counsel initially reiterated that Bennett was asking the court only for the authority to pursue the claims on Keith Wellin's behalf. (2/6/2014 Hr'g Tr., R. pp. 1169(13), line 21-1170(14), line 12.) At the end of

¹ Neither Keith Wellin nor Bennett filed an answer or counterclaim or any other pleading in the instant conservatorship proceeding. Thus, the only pleading filed in the conservatorship proceeding was the complaint filed by the Wellin Children seeking a conservator for their father, and no pleading in the Conservatorship Action even references the Swap Transaction.

the hearing, however, Bennett's counsel requested the probate court immediately order the Wellin Children to pay \$50 million to Bennett as Special Conservator on the basis that it was allegedly "undisputed" that Keith Wellin is entitled to at least \$50 million from the Trust, even though no claims or counterclaims had ever been asserted against the Wellin Children, much less the Trust, in the Conservatorship Action. (R. p. 1180(55).) The Wellin Children objected to Bennett's characterization of Keith Wellin's claim to these funds as "undisputed" and argued that they had tendered payment of the \$50 million from the Trust to Keith Wellin only in satisfaction of the Promissory Note and Bennett had rejected that tender of payment. (R. pp. 1174(33), line 11-1175(35), line 12; pp. 1180(55), line 4-1181(56), line 4; p. 1185(75), lines 17-24.) Following the hearing, the Wellin Children filed a written objection, on jurisdictional and other grounds, to Bennett's oral request at the hearing. (R. pp. 946-961.)

On February 21, 2014, the probate court issued two orders (the "February Orders"). In one order, the probate court amended its prior order appointing Bennett as Special Conservator by granting him the additional power to pursue claims on Keith Wellin's behalf. (R. pp. 20-21.) In the other order, the court appointed Synovus as a second Special Conservator for Keith Wellin and ordered the Wellin Children to pay to Synovus the \$50 million that Bennett characterized as the "undisputed funds" from the Friendship Partners liquidation. (R. pp. 22-27.) The Wellin Children timely filed a motion to alter or amend the latter order on March 3, 2014. (R. pp. 986-992.)

On February 25, 2014, Bennett and Keith Wellin jointly filed a summons and complaint against the Wellin Children in the probate court seeking to recover the same \$50 million that the probate court had five days earlier ordered the Wellin Children to pay to Synovus, along with the additional \$42 million, representing the total proceeds (\$92 million) that Bennett alleges Keith

Wellin should have received in connection with the Friendship Partners liquidation. (R. pp. 277-281.) On March 3, 2014, the Wellin Children removed that complaint to the district court (R. p. 1761), and the district court subsequently dismissed the action on the basis that the claims stated therein were duplicative of claims Keith Wellin had already asserted in other actions in the district court. (R. pp. 101-124.)

On May 5, 2014, the Wellin Children filed in the probate court, pursuant to Rule 41(a)(1)(A) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure, a notice of voluntary dismissal of the instant Conservatorship Action in favor of the district court proceedings. (R. p. 1762.) On July 3, 2014, the probate court issued two orders (the “July Orders”), one of which denied the Wellin Children’s motion to alter or amend its prior February Order requiring them to pay \$50 million to Synovus. (R. pp. 28-33.) The other order vacated the Wellin Children’s notice of voluntary dismissal. (R. pp. 34-39.) On July 11, 2014, the Wellin Children timely filed and served their notice of appeal to the circuit court pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 62-1-308. (R. pp. 1765-66.)

On January 13, 2016, the circuit court issued an order affirming the probate court’s orders. (R. pp. 44-58.) The Wellin Children filed a motion to alter or amend the circuit court’s ruling pursuant to Rule 59(e) (R. pp. 1140-1149), which the circuit court denied in a written order dated May 16, 2016. (R. pp. 59-75.) On May 27, 2016, the Wellin Children timely filed and served their notice of appeal to this Court. (R. p. 2033.)

STATEMENT OF FACTS

- I. Keith Wellin irrevocably transferred ownership and control of 896 shares of Berkshire Hathaway Class A stock to the Wellin Children via estate planning transactions in 2003 and 2009.**

Keith Wellin was a businessman who amassed considerable wealth over his lifetime, largely through the appreciation of Berkshire Hathaway stock. (11/22/2013 Order, R. p. 76;

Petition, R. p. 167; *Wellin I Compl*, p. 176, ¶¶ 21-22.) His three adult children, the Wellin Children, are all from his first marriage. (R. p. 76; p. 167, ¶ 7; p. 176, ¶ 24.) Keith Wellin's first wife and mother of his children passed away in 1970. (Affidavit of Peter Wellin, R. p. 1046, ¶ 3.) In 2002, Keith Wellin married his fourth wife, Wendy Lane Wellin ("Wendy Wellin"). (*Id.*) Prior to their wedding, they entered into a prenuptial agreement that significantly limited Wendy Wellin's access to Keith Wellin's wealth. (R. p. 1047, ¶¶ 9-10.)

In conjunction with the execution of his prenuptial agreement, Keith Wellin, guided by sophisticated tax and estate counsel, primarily Tom Farace ("Farace") with the New York law firm Nixon Peabody, designed an estate plan to transfer the bulk of his wealth to the Wellin Children in a tax-efficient manner and through structures intended to protect the assets from interference by any third party. (R. p. 168, ¶ 7d; p. 1047-48, ¶¶ 9-12.) Wellin began implementing this plan in 2003, when he transferred approximately half of his wealth, consisting of the 896 BRKa Shares to Friendship Partners, a Delaware family limited partnership in which Keith Wellin was a limited partner and in which Friendship Management, LLC ("Friendship Management"), a Delaware limited liability company, was the general partner. (R. p. 77; p. 1048, ¶ 11; p. 177; Partnership Agreement, R. pp. 1680-1705.) Following the 2003 transfer, a revocable trust of which Keith Wellin was trustee (the "Florida Revocable Trust") owned approximately 99% of the limited partnership units in Friendship Partners (the "LP Units"). (R. p. 77.) However, the general partner, Friendship Management, held the sole right to manage the partnership and its assets, including the sole authority to sell the BRKa Shares owned by the partnership. (R. p. 77; p. 1048, ¶ 11; p. 177; p. 1691.) Friendship Management was controlled by its Manager, Cynthia Wellin Plum, who is Keith Wellin's oldest daughter. (R. p. 77; p. 177; p. 1707.)

In November 2009, Keith Wellin implemented the 2009 Transaction by establishing the Irrevocable Trust and then causing the Florida Revocable Trust to sell the LP Units to the Irrevocable Trust in exchange for the Promissory Note, which had a face value of approximately \$50 million. (R. p. 78; pp. 1051-53, ¶ 23-26; pp. 1728-51.) The Irrevocable Trust was established as an “intentionally-defective grantor trust” under Sections 671 through 679 of the Internal Revenue Code, which means the Trust is disregarded for federal income tax purposes, and the grantor—in this case, Keith Wellin—continued to be taxed on any income realized by the Trust, thereby increasing the total assets available for the Trust’s beneficiaries. The initial trustees of the Irrevocable Trust were the three Wellin Children and a corporate trustee, South Dakota Trust Company (“SDTC”).² (Irrevocable Trust, R. p. 804; R. p. 180, ¶ 56.) The named beneficiaries are the Wellin Children and their lineal descendants. (R. p. 808; p. 180, ¶ 57.) The Trust agreement also provides for the position of “Trust Protector,” which holds certain limited powers, including the power to amend the Trust “to achieve favorable tax status.” (R. pp. 813-817.) The initial Trust Protector was Tom Farace, Keith Wellin’s long-standing trust and estate attorney and the architect of these transactions. (*Id.*)

II. Keith Wellin, acting through new counsel, launched an attack in 2013 on the Wellin Children and the Irrevocable Trust.

In the summer of 2013, Keith Wellin, almost 87 years old and in failing health, terminated Farace without notice to his children and retained new counsel in Charleston. (R. p. 168, ¶ 7d; pp. 1056-1057, ¶¶ 37-38.) His new counsel, who had no history with Keith Wellin and his family, assisted his efforts to transfer large amounts of money to his wife Wendy Wellin and to distance Wellin from his children and grandchildren. (R. pp. 168-169; pp. 1056-1057, ¶¶ 37-

² The Trust instrument provides that it shall be administered in South Dakota and subject to South Dakota law. (R. pp. 806-807.)

38.) It is undisputed that Keith Wellin transferred at least \$25 million to Wendy in June 2013 alone and at least \$39.5 million in 2013. (*Id.*) Ultimately, through his new counsel, Keith Wellin sued the Wellin Children in federal court on July 3, 2013 (“*Wellin P*”), alleging that the Wellin Children defrauded him into entering into the 2009 Transaction and seeking to recover all assets in the Irrevocable Trust, plus punitive damages. (R. p. 168; pp. 174-205.) The Wellin Children alleged in the probate court and the federal district court that these and other financial transfers to Wendy Wellin and the *Wellin I* lawsuit are the product of manipulation and undue influence exerted by Wendy Wellin on Keith Wellin at a time when he lacked capacity to manage his affairs. (R. p. 168, ¶ 7c; USDC CA No. 2:14-cv-4067 Compl., R. pp. 600-636.)

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