THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM THE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS

Roger L. Couch, Circuit Court Judge  
Irvin G. Condon, Probate Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2016-001141  
Circuit Court Case No.: 2014-CP-10-4336  
Probate Case No.: 2013-GC-10-1029

---

Peter J. Wellin, Cynthia W. Plum and Marjorie W. King

v.

Keith S. Wellin,

Respondent.

---

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

---

Tiffany N. Provence, Esq. (SC #13912)  
PROVENCE MESSERVY, LLC  
300 N. Cedar Street, Suite A  
Summerville, SC 29483  
(843) 871-9500  
(843) 261-7035 (fax)  
*Attorney for Edward G.R. Bennett  
as Special Conservator for Keith S. Wellin*

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

Rules of Civil Procedure are applicable in the probate court to the extent they are not inconsistent with the Probate Code or probate court rules." A voluntary dismissal under Rule 41(a)(1)(A) is only available in a proceeding where the adverse party is required to file an answer or has the ability to move for summary judgment. *See ISC Holding AG v. Nobel Biocare Fin. AG*, 688 F.3d 98, 116 (2d Cir. 2012) (finding that a petitioner could not use a Notice of Voluntary Dismissal to dismiss a petition to compel arbitration where respondent could not have filed an answer and summary judgment was unavailable). "Apodictically, the statutory scheme articulated in the South Carolina Probate Code does not mandate responsive pleadings." *In re Estate of Weeks*, 329 S.C. at 258, 495 S.E.2d at 458 (holding the probate court did not err in finding no default existed in will contest where no answer was filed because none was required).

Within a conservatorship proceeding, there is simply no requirement for a respondent to file an answer and no ability to file a motion for summary judgment. The exclusive procedure for the Probate Court to appoint a conservator for an allegedly incapacitated person is set forth in S.C. Code Ann. § 62-5-407, which states:

Upon the filing of a summons and petition for appointment of a conservator or other protective order for reasons other than minority, and after service of the summons and the petition, the court shall set a date for hearing. Unless the person to be protected has counsel of his own choice, the court must appoint a lawyer to represent him who then has the powers and duties of a guardian ad litem. If the protected person already has representation by an attorney that attorney shall act as his guardian ad litem. If the alleged disability is mental illness, mental deficiency, physical illness or disability, advanced age, chronic use of drugs, or chronic intoxication, the court shall direct that the person to be protected be examined by one or more physicians designated by the court, preferably physicians who are not connected with any institution which the person is a patient or is detained.

Nowhere within the above section does it state that an allegedly incapacitated person is required to file an answer to the petition. Forcing an allegedly incapacitated person to file an answer would be contrary to the primary purpose of a conservatorship proceeding, that is to protect the

interests of such a person. Rather than requiring an answer, the statute directs the Court to set a hearing after service of the summons and petition. S.C. Code Ann. § 62-5-407(b). In fact, after the Wellin Children filed their petition, the Probate Court properly followed the above procedure and set a preliminary hearing.

Similarly, there is no summary judgment procedure available in a conservatorship proceeding. The statutory procedures listed above only allow the Court to make a conservatorship determination after it has appointed designated examiners and a full hearing is held wherein the parties are allowed to call witnesses and present all evidence regarding the capacity of the allegedly incapacitated person. S.C. Code Ann. § 62-5-407 (2010). By conducting a full competency hearing and examining all the evidence before it regarding the person's capacity, the Court is able to "exercise its discretion with the best interests of the allegedly incapacitated person in mind." In re Campbell, 379 S.C. 593, 600, 666 S.E.2d 908, 911 (2008). It would be wholly inconsistent with the procedures and protective purpose of the conservatorship statutes to allow the Wellin Children to unilaterally terminate this proceeding and divest the Probate Court of jurisdiction by filing a Notice of Voluntary Dismissal, particularly after a Special Conservator has been appointed and protective orders issued.

**II. The Probate Court has personal jurisdiction over the Trust and the Wellin Children, as the Trustees, because they have submitted to the jurisdiction of the Probate Court, both in their individual and fiduciary capacities, by filing the Petition and asserting arguments on behalf of the Trust.**

**A. Jurisdiction over the Trust**

The Wellin Children argue that, subject matter jurisdiction aside, "the court still lacked personal jurisdiction to grant relief against the Irrevocable Trust." App. Brief p. 35. They base their argument on the fact that the Irrevocable Trust was not made a party to the action. It is

important to understand that the Wellin Children conceded in Court that their Petition subjects them, individually, to the personal jurisdiction of this Court. [ROA 1176; Special Conservator Hr'g Tr. 39:23-25.] However, they developed a theory at the close of the February hearing that "the trust is not even a party to this proceeding. The owner of the asset is not here." [ROA 1183; Id. at 66:16-19.] They further argued, "The court cannot order a nonparty to do - to pay \$50 million over to somebody else." [ROA 1184; Id. at 73:20-22.] However, in discussing the Promissory Note, counsel for the Wellin Children made arguments regarding the substitution transaction, which undisputedly involved trust assets and did not involve them individually. [ROA 1174; Id. at 32:5-10, 33:11-23.]

The trust holding the sum of \$50,228,000 is the Irrevocable Trust which the Wellin Children stated in court "the three children are the three Trustees who were in place at the time." [ROA 1174; Special Conservator Hr'g Tr. 32:9-10.] These are the same three Wellin Children, the same three Trustees who have already disbursed the remaining assets to themselves individually. [ROA 1175; Special Conservator Hr'g Tr. 34:21-25, 35:1-4.] The Probate Court recognized the same when it stated: "Petitioners are also Trustees of this Trust and offered to surrender the \$50,228,000 to the Court in satisfaction of the Note, but this Court does not hold funds and defers to the Federal Court litigation concerning the ultimate disposition of the \$50,228,000 and the Promissory Note. The Petitioners have appeared and raised issues in this Court through their counsel as set forth in the transcripts from the hearings and the record." [ROA 29; 7/3/14 Order #1.] Interestingly enough, this Court is placed in the same position as the lower courts in that the Appellants' brief, filed by the Wellin Children as individuals, raises several issues on behalf of the Trust and Trustees, including lack of personal jurisdiction and lack of due process.

“In order to establish waiver of the right to contest jurisdiction, it is only necessary that a party by its conduct evince an intent to proceed to the merits of the case.” Jenkinson v. Murrow Bros. Seed Co., 272 S.C. 148, 154, 249 S.E.2d 780, 783 (1978) (Ness, J., concurring). “An appearance may be expressly made by formal written or oral declaration, or record entry, or it may be implied from some act done with the intention of appearing and submitting to the court’s jurisdiction.” 4 Am. Jur.2d Appearance § 1 (1995). No specific act constitutes an appearance, as “a defendant may choose to come into court with trumpets, or quietly by the back door.” Stephens v. Ringling, 102 S.C. 333, 342, 86 S.E. 683, 685 (1915). Accordingly, courts decide on a case by case basis whether a defendant’s act demonstrates an intent to submit to the court’s jurisdiction. Stearns Bank Nat. Ass’n v. Glenwood Falls, L.P., 373 S.C. 331, 644 S.E.2d 793, 796 (Ct. App. 2007). “Although a court commonly obtains personal jurisdiction by the service of the summons and complaint, it may also obtain personal jurisdiction if the defendant makes a voluntary appearance.” Ex Parte Cannon, 385 S.C. 643, 685 S.E.2d 814 (Ct. App. 2009) (citing Stearns Bank Nat. Ass’n v. Glenwood Falls, L.P., 373 S.C. 331, 337, 644 S.E.2d 793, 796 (Ct. App. 2007)); *see also* In re Conservatorship of Groves, 109 S.W.3d 317; 350 (Tenn. Ct. App. 2003) (holding that where parties appear and participate in an action, they waive any right to challenge failure to sue them as trustees); In re Guardianship of Brown, 611 So. 2d 1342 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 1993) (holding that it is not necessary to serve an individual who petitioned for appointment as guardian in their capacity as trustee). [See citations ROA 30; 7/3/14 Order #1.]

A similar effort to appear voluntarily in one capacity while hiding behind a different fiduciary title to avoid negative consequences previously has been addressed by this Court in Ex Parte Cannon, 385 S.C. 643, 685 S.E.2d 814 (Ct. App. 2009). This case was properly reviewed and cited by both lower courts in making their decisions.

Cannon argued that the circuit court lacked personal jurisdiction over him because he was never made a party to any proceedings in his capacity as trustee, was never served with a rule, and was only before the circuit court in his capacity as personal representative. The Court disagreed, stating: "Although a court commonly obtains personal jurisdiction by the service of the summons and complaint, it may also obtain personal jurisdiction if the defendant makes a voluntary appearance." Id. (citing Stearns Bank Nat. Ass'n v. Glenwood Falls, LP, 373 S.C. 331, 337, 644 S.E.2d 793, 796 (Ct. App. 2007)). Just like Cannon, the Wellin Children initiated these proceedings as Petitioners and have voluntarily appeared as Trustees in other matters before this Court. They clearly had notice of all proceedings because their counsel, who represents them in all of their capacities, appeared and argued on their behalf. Because of their actions, the Appellants have waived any defects, to the extent any could exist, that might have occurred. See Stickland v. Consol. Energy Prods. Co., 274 S.C. 554, 555, 265 S.E.2d 682, 683 (1980) ("A general appearance constitutes a voluntary submission to the jurisdiction of the court and waives any defects and irregularities in the service of process."); H.S. Chisholm, Inc. v. Klinger, 229 S.C. 8, 16, 91 S.E.2d 538, 542 (1956). Moreover, as the Probate Court noted, they have filed extensive memoranda and made multiple arguments, including arguments made on behalf of the Trust, which supports a finding of waiver. [ROA 31; 7/3/14 Order #1.]

The Wellin Children seek to have this Court rely on a Texas appellate decision in In re Ashton for its holding that "[F]or relief to be ordered against a trust, its trustee must be properly before the trial court as a result of service, acceptance, or waiver or process, or an appearance." 266 S.W.3d 602, 604 (Tex. App. 2008). While no South Carolina court has directly addressed the issue presented here, this Texas decision can be easily distinguished. In re Ashton was a divorce proceeding wherein the plaintiff/wife sought relief against the defendant/husband's trust.

This case is inapplicable to the Wellin matter for several reasons. First, the Wellin Children were the Petitioners in this matter, alleging that their father's assets were in need of protection and including this very asset on their Inventory and Appraisal. By petitioning the Probate Court, they submitted to its personal jurisdiction. They were not the defendants in a marital dispute, nor has substantive relief been ordered against a Trust holding their own personal assets, as they have acknowledged these funds belong to their father. Secondly, the Probate Code affords the Probate Court great latitude in protecting the assets of an alleged incapacitated party; therefore, application of a family court case is not appropriate.

The Probate Court's decision is fully consistent with and supported by the Court's decision in Ex parte Cannon; and it is also supported by decisions in both Florida and Tennessee wherein it was held that when parties appear and participate in an action, they waive any right to challenge failure to separately name them in their capacities as trustees. *See, e.g. In re Conservatorship of Groves*, 109 S.W.3d 317, 350 (Tenn. Ct. App. 2003); In re Guardianship of Brown, 611 So. 2d 1342 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 1993) ("Wallace petitioned the court to be appointed guardian for the incompetent ward Delphine Wengatz Brown. In doing so, she clearly submitted herself individually to the court's jurisdiction... Thus, all interested parties were properly before the court, so that it was not necessary to name or serve Wallace in her capacity as trustee or depository." (internal citations omitted)); Finkelstein v. Se. Bank, N.A., 490 So. 2d 976, 979 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 1986) ("They did not raise jurisdiction as an issue in their motion to dismiss the complaint, or in their later motion to dissolve the agreed temporary restraining order. . . . By their actions, they waived any right to challenge jurisdiction because of appellee's failure to sue them in their capacity as trustees. Furthermore, the depository itself did not need to be named in the suit, where all parties interested in the trust res were before the court."). The

Florida Court of Appeals has further held that when an individual petitions to be appointed guardian for an incompetent, the individual submits to the court's jurisdiction, and it is not necessary to name or serve that individual in their capacity as a trustee. In re Guardianship of Brown, 611 So. 2d 1342 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 1993). Conservatorship determinations vest jurisdiction over the person's property in the trial court and it may, in appropriate circumstances, exercise control over the incapacitated person's property indirectly through its power over persons whom it has jurisdiction. In re Conservatorship of Groves, 109 S.W.3d at 349.

When denying Appellants' Motion to Alter or Amend, the Probate Court was appropriately persuaded by the decisions in In re Conservatorship of Groves, and In re Guardianship of Brown. [ROA 30; 7/3/14 Order #1.] The Court wisely explained that "these cases are in accord with the Court's application of In re Estate of Ahem, 359 Ill. App. 3d 805, 812, 835 N.E.2d 95, 101 (2005) ("However, we find that some of the arguments Robert made in objecting to the petition for guardianship and in contesting the award of fees to Dutton indicate that he did in fact appear on behalf of the Trust and thus subjected it to the trial court's personal jurisdiction.")" Id.

**B. Jurisdiction over the Trustees**

The Wellin Children have been represented by the same counsel individually and as Trustees for the Irrevocable Trust. [ROA 1184; Special Conservator Hr'g Tr. 73:15-25.] However, in an attempt to evade the Probate Court's order directing them to turn over the \$50 million to the Special Conservator II, they argue that they have only been participating in these proceedings in their individual capacities and therefore the Probate Court lacks jurisdiction over them as Trustees of the Irrevocable Trust which technically holds the \$50 million. The Probate Court properly found that they had not maintained or preserved any such distinction because

Counsel for the Wellin Children regularly spoke on behalf of both the Irrevocable Trust and the Wellin Children in their capacity as Trustees during the proceedings below.

The record below and the arguments made in briefing on appeal to this Court will show that the Wellin Children assert arguments and raise issues on appeal that belong only to the Irrevocable Trust. A prime example is where, speaking on behalf of the Wellin Children in their dual capacities, their Counsel offered to tender the funds in question to the Probate Court. [ROA 1181; Special Conservator Hr'g Tr. 58:12-14.] This representation on behalf of the Trust/Trustee was repeated when their Counsel wrote: "If Bennett would like the Trust to 'return' the Note to Wellin so that Wellin is in the same position he was in at the time Bennett was appointed, the Trustees of the Trust are happy to do so." [ROA 948; 2/14/14 Memo in Opposition, p. 3.] The Wellin Children attempt to distinguish this offer as one by them individually. However, this distinction fails upon the fact that, by their own statements, the Wellin Children are not parties to the Note. By offering to pay what they repeatedly claim not to otherwise owe, they prove the point—unless they have appeared as Trustees, the Wellin Children gain no benefit by their offer. If they have not appeared as Trustees, their interests are not affected by the Probate Court's order, and thus, they lack standing to raise those issues.

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